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I. INTRODUCTION

Today, one can visit the University of Maryland School of Nursing Museum and admire an exhibit illuminating celebrating Esther Elizabeth McCready, the School of Nursing’s first African-American student and graduate.
  In 1949, when McCready submitted her application as a first-year student to the School of Nursing, the University did not welcome her with open arms.  Instead, University officials offered her nurses training at Meharry Medical College in Nashville, Tennessee, more than one thousand miles away from the University of Maryland.  In essence, McCready had the doors to the University slammed in her face, forcing her, along with the assistance of Donald G. Murray and Charles H. Houston, to break down those doors and charge her way into the University.  The following piece will reveal the genesis of the litigation surrounding the case of McCready v. Bryd,
 which forced University of Maryland officials to open its doors and admit McCready to the School of Nursing, reveal related cases involving other University of Maryland schools, the interested persons, judges and lawyers surrounding the McCready case, the extent of press and public interest in the case, and examine the immediate and long term impact of the case.

II. GENESIS OF THE McCREADY LITIGATION & RELATED CASES

On February 1, 1949, Esther E. McCready,
 then eighteen years of age, filed an application as a first-year nursing student at the University of Maryland School of Nursing for the academic year beginning August 8, 1949.
  As of May 14, 1949, McCready received no formal reply from University officials regarding the status of her application.
  Charles H. Houston and Donald G. Murray, counsel for the NAACP legal redress committee, represented McCready along with six other Negro applicants seeking admission to various professional schools at the University.
  The other applicants and prospective schools included, Martin B. Booth,
 School of Pharmacy, Richard Tyson,
 School of Pharmacy, Richard Williams,
 School of Dentistry, Donald W. Stewart,
 School of Dentistry, Hiram T. Whittle,
 College of Engineering, and Lucille Williams,
 College of Home Economics.  

Murray and Houston threatened to resort to legal remedies if no action was taken on the applications of the seven Negro applicants, which included McCready’s application.
  On July 8, 1949, Murray advised University officials by letter that unless some disposition was made of the matter within the deadline of three days, the matter would be addressed in court.
  Murray later received communication from the Maryland Assistant Attorney General requesting that no court action be taken until July 21, 1949, by which time “the university’s director of admissions should have replied to your letter.”
  Edgar F. Long, the University’s Director of Admissions, later acknowledged receipt of Murray’s letter threatening legal action and advised the NAACP that action would be taken in “due time.”
  Nevertheless, Murray received no further communication from Long or other University official within the deadline to dispose of the applications, prompting Murray’s announcement on July 23, 1949 that the cases would be taken to court.

A.  
Petition for Writ of Mandamus

With the exception of Martin Booth, whose case was already pending,
 each of the cases were filed during the week of July 25, 1949.
  McCready filed her Petition for Writ of Mandamus on July 27, 1949 against University officials
 in Baltimore City Court to order her admission as a first-year student in the School of Nursing for the academic year beginning August 8, 1949.
  In her petition, counsel alleged that McCready, a citizen and resident of the state of Maryland at all relevant times, duly applied on February 1, 1949 for admission as a first-year student for the academic year beginning August 8, 1948.
  Furthermore, McCready alleged that University authorities refused to pass on her application although it appraised and passed on other similar applicants by white students.
 

Moreover, McCready maintained that her application demonstrated that her moral and educational qualifications were as good as or perhaps even better than those admitted both prior to and subsequent to her applications submission.
  Furthermore, McCready claimed that the Board of Regents, the Director of Admissions and the Director of the School of Nursing and Faculty Committee had notice of her application and ample time and adequate opportunity to consider and act upon her application.
  Yet, University officials had not given McCready any satisfactory and definite action on her application and it was her belief that the application was refused wrongfully and arbitrarily, solely because of her race, and in direct contravention of the Fourteenth Amendment provisions to the United States Constitution, 8 U.S.C. 41 and prior decisions of the Supreme Court.
  

McCready concluded the petition by stating that, “the actions of those responsible in refusing to consider the application of the Petitioner were wrong, unlawful and arbitrary, thereby the state of Maryland did deny the Petitioner, a resident and citizen of the United States and the State of Maryland, the equal protection of the laws guarantee her under the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and did violate Title 8 U.S.C. Section 41.”
 Furthermore, unless the court issued the writ, McCready argued that she would suffer irreparable injury and would be without adequate remedy to enter the University for the 1949 academic year.
  McCready thus requested the court issue a writ of mandamus directed at the University (a) to consider and act on McCready’s application without regard to creed or color and admit her to the semester beginning August 8, 1949, or (b) to certify her at the beginning of the next academic term when entering students were accepted and to certify her application in the same terms and conditions applicable to other students.
 

B.
The University Offers an Alternative

Following the filing of her petition, McCready received a letter dated August 13, 1949 from Edgar F. Long, Director of Admissions, relating to the status of her application.
  Mr. Long advised McCready that pursuant to the Regional Compact, the General Assembly authorized the state of Maryland to enter into compacts with certain states regarding the development and maintenance of regional educational services in specified fields.
 Long informed her that the Regional Compact applied to both white and Negro citizens and the compact, having been ratified by the requisite number of states, was then currently in effect.
  

Furthermore, Long informed McCready that the state of Maryland had already sent ten white students to the University of Georgia to study veterinary medicine under the compact and similar arrangements had been made where Meharry Medical College in Nashville, Tennessee had become a compact institution to which signatory states could send students for medical, dentistry and nursing education.
  As such, arrangements had been made for McCready to attend Meharry College, whereby the total expense, including travel, room and board, would not exceed the University of Maryland.
   Furthermore, Long insisted that she would receive the same kind and quality of work at Meharry College that one would receive at the University of Maryland.
  Finally, McCready was authorized to attend Meharry College and Long instructed her to contact him for further action.

McCready’s reaction to the letter was less than favorable.  She was quoted as saying: “I don’t feel that this is any answer to my application to enter the University of Maryland.  I’m going on with the suit.”
 All of the other Negro applicants, with the exception of Booth, received similar letters dated August 13, 1949 from Long suggesting attendance at a different institution.
   Long proposed that Stewart also attend Meharry Medical College to seeking training in dentistry;
 that Tyson attend Xavier University in New Orleans or some other university of his choice,
 that L. Williams attend Maryland State College at Princess Anne, Somerset County, Maryland, a division of the University of Maryland for graduate work in Home Economics;
 that Whittle also attend Maryland State College at Princess Anne to study engineering;
 and that R. Williams attend Meharry Medical College to seeking training in dentistry.
  

Each applicant, like McCready, emphatically rejected the offers.  Whittle, who already received a bachelor’s degree in Home Economics from Morgan State University responded, “How stupid do they think we are? My degree from Morgan is already better than any I can get from Princess Anne.”
  Tyson responded, “I think this is a dirty deal.  The people of Maryland should do something about it, because it’s very undemocratic. I realize Xavier University is an excellent school, but I’d rather go the University of Maryland and my suit will continue.”
  Booth, who did not even receive a letter from Long, stated that if any such suggestion were offered to him, “It wouldn’t mean a thing . . . [m]y suit will stay in court.”
 

Murray noted that the offers by the University meant nothing as far as the suits were concerned and that University official must still answer each complaint alleging that the applications were ignored solely because of the applicants race.
 Thus, all concluded that the actions against the University of Maryland for admission to the designated school would continue.

III. University Response to mccready’s petition 

Judge Abner Saylor ordered Henry Bryd, President of the University, to show cause on or before August 26, 1949 explaining why McCready’s Petition for Writ of Mandamus should not be granted.  The University, through its counsel, Hall Hammond, Maryland Attorney General, and Kenneth C. Proctor, Assistant Attorney General, filed its answer to McCready’s petition on August 26, 1949.
  The University admitted that it received McCready’s application for admission dated February 1, 1949 on February 2, 1949.
  Yet, the University maintained that the general policy of the state of Maryland regarding education had always been to segregate white and Negro races, and in furtherance of such a long standing and well-established policy, the governor entered into a compact, “The Regional Compact,” with other governors of southern states,
 which the General Assembly approved and ratified.
  The Regional Compact, as the University insisted, made provisions for education in the technological, scientific, and literary fields for all citizens of the signatory states, regardless of race or creed, at jointly owned and operated regional educational facilities in such southern states.
  The University argued that the educational advantages and facilities contemplated by and under the Regional Compact fully complied with the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, decisions of the Supreme Court, and 8 U.S.C. 41.

The University also maintained that McCready was advised of the provisions of the Regional Compact by Edgar Long and was authorized to study at Meharry Medical College at no extra expense.
  The University insisted that Meharry College offered the same kind and quality of education, as one would receive at the University of Maryland.
  From this, the University denied that its officials refused to pass on McCready’s application and denied that her application was refused wrongfully and arbitrarily because of race and color, in direct violation of the Constitution, the Supreme Court and 8 U.S.C. 41.
  The University concluded by arguing that the provisions for education under the Regional Compact did not discriminate against McCready.

Counsel for McCready responded to the University by maintaining that facilities and opportunities for education, equal to those furnished whites, must be realized as soon as such facilities were made available to any other group or race.
  The offer to send McCready to Meharry College pursuant to the Regional Compact, McCready argued in essence was a direct refusal by the state of Maryland to assume clear legal and constitutional obligations.
  Any comparison between the kind and quality of education afforded at the University and Maryland and Meharry Medical College in no way affected McCready’s right to admission, along with other qualified applicants. 
   McCready argued that the state could not meet its obligations to furnish equal protection to all its citizens by offering McCready education outside the state because of her race and color, while at the same time accepting white applicants to the University of Maryland.
  McCready further alleged that the offer to attend out of state education was meant to prevent McCready from insisting upon rights guaranteed her.
  Therefore, by sending McCready to Meharry Medical College, it was impossible for her to secure an equal education to that offered to white students within the meaning of the Constitution, the laws of the United States and Maryland, and the decisions of the Supreme Court and the Maryland Court of Appeals.

IV. Regional Board Intervention

Following McCready’s petition and the University’s response, counsel on behalf of the Board of Control for Southern Regional Education
 submitted a Petition for Intervention in the matter of McCready v. Bryd.
  Counsel for the Board contended that the Board of Control for Southern Regional Education was established for the purpose of assisting states, institutions and agencies concerned with higher education in efforts to advance knowledge and improve the social and economic level of the southern region.
  The Board acknowledged that pursuant to the compact, arrangements were made whereby qualified Maryland resident students could enroll at Meharry College as a special convenience to the state of Maryland.
  Nevertheless, the Board firmly stated that:

The Board’s position is that it shall make arrangements to support educational facilities with States.  It is not the purpose of the Board that the regional compact and contracts for educational service thereunder shall serve any State as a legal defense for avoiding responsibilities established or defined under the existing State and Federal laws and Court decisions.

Thus, the Board essentially intervened to inform the court that the Regional Compact was not to be used as a substitute for equal educational opportunities required of each state.

V. McCready’s case is heard in BALTIMORE CITY COURT 

A.  McCready’s Case

Before Baltimore City Court Chief Judge W. Conwell Smith, Houston, following opening arguments by himself, Kenneth Proctor, on behalf of the University, and C. Bowie Duckett, on behalf of the Board of Control for Southern Regional Education, presented a very brief case.
  Houston called no witnesses before resting his case.   Instead, Houston merely reminded the court that as stipulated by the University McCready met all the educational and moral qualifications for admission.
 In fact, Houston maintained that the University agreed McCready’s education and moral qualifications were equivalent, if not superior, to some of the education and moral qualifications of white students admitted to the school and whose applications were received by the University after McCready’s submission.
  Nevertheless, Houston noted that McCready was refused admission solely because of her race and would have been admitted had she been white.
  Houston acknowledged that she was offered by the University a course in nursing at Meharry College, under the Regional Compact, at a total overall cost to her, including living and travel expenses, that would not exceed the cost to her at the University of Maryland.
   Instead, McCready rejected the offer and insisted upon her right to attend the University of Maryland, the only state supported educational institution where a nursing certificate or degree could be obtained.
  Houston concluded by stating that McCready was willing and ready to pay all first-year fees and expenses, and ready and able to conform to all lawful uniform rules and regulations governing first-year students at the school.
  With that very brief statement, Houston rested.

B.  
The University’s Case

University Counsel, Kenneth Proctor, called the following witnesses: Dr. Maurice C. Pincoffs, Mrs. Verne Allen Nesbitt, Mrs. Angela M. Shipley, and Ms. Florence M. Gipe.  Dr. Pincoffs, Professor of Medicine at the University of Maryland and chief physician at the University Hospital,
 testified that he extensively studied Meharry Medical College and could compare both schools with respect to factors he believed to be fundamentally necessary to the functioning of a nursing school.
   Dr. Pincoffs believed that the fundamentals of any nursing school included the availability of funds, the character of student body, the character of faculty, and the facilities possessed by the school for instruction.
  Despite Houston’s strenuous objection to the relevance of such testimony, Judge Smith permitted Dr. Pincoffs to compare the institutions in those respects.
 

With respect to available funds, Dr. Pincoffs testified that Meharry was founded originally by a bequest from the Meharry brothers and was currently supported by the proceeds of a Rockefeller endowment, yearly grants from Rockefeller, grants from the Kellogg Foundation, other gifts and grants and tuition income.
  The School of Nursing, on the other hand, received with the budget of the University of Maryland, an allocation of funds derived from the Legislature and received services equivalent to funds from the University of Maryland.
  Dr. Pincoffs estimated that approximately $1,770.00 was apportioned for each Meharry College student as compared to $1332.00 for each University of Maryland student.
  From this, Dr. Pincoffs concluded that Meharry College was not lacking in funds to spend on its students and was in fact in a better situation than the University of Maryland.

Furthermore, Dr. Pincoffs testified that the character of student body of Meharry College was superior to that of Maryland.  He admitted that both schools admitted two types of students, those studying for a nursing diploma and those having two or more years of college education studying for a nursing degree.
  Nevertheless, at Meharry College approximately 50% of its students received two or more years of college education before entrance, which Dr. Pincoffs believed was particularly high.
 The remaining 50% had as a prerequisite to entrance to rank in the top third of their high school class.
  At the University of Maryland, Dr. Pincoffs estimated that only 12.5% of its then present student body received two years of college education.
  At Maryland, Dr. Pincoffs also noted, the school only required a high school diploma and recommendation, but ranking in the top third of his/her high school class was not required.
 

Dr. Pincoffs also concluded that while the character of faculty was satisfactory in both schools, in its organization and qualifications, Meharry had “the edge.”
 With respect to facilities, Dr. Pincoffs explained that University of Maryland students were disadvantaged because there was no campus or grounds and no place for out-door recreation without going a considerable distance.
  On the other hand, Meharry College, was located on a twenty-five acre landscaped campus, across from Fiske University and the State College.
  In addition, Meharry buildings were all newly constructed as compared to Maryland where most laboratories were located in a significantly older building.
 

Dr. Pincoffs further testified about the National League of Nursing Education. He explained that the League, with its mission to improve nursing education in the country, had wide influence in the nursing profession in that it advised curriculum, published books and accredited nursing schools.
  Accreditation by the League, Dr. Pincoffs insisted, connoted superior quality of nursing schools and while Meharry was accredited, Maryland was not.
  Dr. Pincoffs concluded his comparison of Meharry College and he University of Maryland by stating if the objective of the candidate is education, Meharry offered at least equivalent, an in his opinion, somewhat better organized instruction in nursing.
 

Upon cross-examination, Dr. Pincoffs acknowledged that he took only one, four hour trip to Meharry College the following Thursday, which was the basis of his comparison to the University.
 In fact, Dr. Pincoffs admitted that he never actually went to the campus and investigated Fiske University and the State College.
  Similarly, he acknowledged that he knew nothing about the financial situation of Meharry the previous year except that the Rockefeller Foundation supported the institution.
  He admitted that he was not aware, as Houston pointed out, that Meharry was in such desperate financial straits the prior year that it was in danger of closing. 
 

On direct examination of Mrs. Verne Allen Nesbitt, a registered nurse
 who taught at Meharry College in 1947 for one term, Nesbitt testified that Meharry students were higher caliber students than one would expect to see in a hospital of nursing because they were better prepared.
  Nesbitt also testified that she was impressed with Meharry’s library, which in 1947 had ten thousand periodicals and was shared by the medical and dentistry students.
 Upon cross-examination, Nesbittt acknowledged that generally speaking in connection with nurses’ training, a larger hospital offers more clinical material for the student nurse to observe and work.
 

Angela M. Shipley, a registered nurse and Executive Secretary of the Maryland Board of Nurses Examiners, testified that a nurse must earn a certificate and complete an examination to register as a nurse in Maryland.
  Shipley testified that the Board accepted other state registrations and had occasion to consider and accept the registration of a Meharry College graduate the previous year.
   Shipley explained that she was familiar with and a member of the National League of Nursing Education. 
  She also explained that accreditation was made on a voluntary basis, that is, at the request of the school.
 Shipley agreed that Dr. Pincoffs provided an excellent summation of the manner in which the Board proceeded and that accreditation by the League intimated a mark of distinction.
  She similarly noted that Meharry College was accredited, but the University of Maryland was not.
 

Nevertheless upon cross-examination, Shipley acknowledged that accreditation was voluntary and many good schools had not requested accreditation throughout the country.
   Thus, without data showing that the University of Maryland had asked for accreditation and upon examination by the Board had been refused accreditation, there could be no imputation from the University’s omission from the list of accredited schools.
 

Florence M. Gipe, registered nurse and then Director of Nursing Education and Nursing Service of the School of Nursing at the University, was called to address whether the University of Maryland had applied for accreditation.
  Gipe testified that in the previous year, she contacted the League regarding accreditation and was informed that there was an interim classification for all schools of nursing. 
  Thus, if the school submitted the appropriate data the school should know whether it would want the survey within the next year or so, that is, to see if the school could pass accreditation.

Upon cross-examination, Gipe admitted that the Board had never sent any first-year white student outside the state of Maryland for nursing school and never admitted a Negro student to the school of nursing.
   Furthermore, Gipe never had the occasion to decide whether to admit a negro and did not have occasion to decide whether to admit McCready because her application was detained at College Park.
  The University then rested.

C.  
Houston Calls the Director of Admissions

Although, Houston previously stated that he had rested his case, Hoston called Edgar F. Long, Director of Admission for the University of Maryland.
  Long explained that numerous applications of accepted students in the nursing school were received subsequent to the date of McCready’s submission.
  Assuming a group of applications were complete, Long testified it would take the School of Nursing Committee on Admissions
 approximately one week to make selections.
   Long acknowledged that McCready’s application was received February 2, 1949 and not acted until August13, 1949.
  Long attributed the unusually long time to the policy of separate education for Negroes and whites in state of Maryland.
  Houston commented, and Long agreed that in essence, Long purposely withheld her application because she was a Negro.
  

Long further testified that the Committee did not vote upon McCready’s application because they were not in a position to determine policy with respect to an application made by a member of the Negro race.
  Long acknowledged that all of the applications for admission to the law school were handled in exactly the same way that the Committee handled McCready’s application merely because the applications came from Negro students. 
  Thus, because of that fact, all the applications of Negro students, except those of the law, were rejected. 
  To his knowledge, Long testified, that he had not sent any qualified white student outside of the state to take a course offered at Maryland.
 Houston then rested. 

D. 
Judge Smith Renders the Court’s Decision

Chief Judge Smith noted from the outset that McCready was an important case and one not easily determined.
   The court acknowledged that it was clear that a state could not refuse a Negro the opportunity to study law within the state if it permitted whites to do the same.
  It was also clear to Judge Smith that within Maryland a policy of racial segregation in education could be maintained provided that substantially equal facilities were granted and substantially equal opportunities and facilities were provided.
  Therefore, Judge Smith maintained, “the state is not guilty if it provides separate institutions to separate the races in its educational work”.
   

In the case of law students, Judge Smith maintained that Murray was precedent. 
  He felt bound by prior decisions and if something different were to be decided it would have to come from the United States Supreme Court.
  Judge Smith noted that it was perfectly true that the Supreme Court had not condemned the use of scholarships and the exchange of educational facilities in applications to fields other than law.
   Judge Smith further declared that the Regional Compact was made in good faith and no evidence was presented to suggest that training at Meharry College would not be equal to training at the University.
  The question, Smith noted, was limited to that of nursing training, not to the question of medical education, training in pharmacy or veterinary medicine.
 Thus, Judge Smith concluded “that the State in offering the training at Meharry has discharged its obligation in this single case and that the training offered is substantially equal, if not superior, to the training at the University of Maryland School of Nursing, and for that reason the petition for the writ of mandamus should be denied.”

VI. McCready’s Appeal TO THE MARYLAND COURT OF APPEALS 

McCready’s attorneys, following the denial by Chief Judge W. Conwell Smith of her admission to the University of Maryland School of Nursing, filed notice of appeal on Thursday, October 21, 1949 in the Baltimore City Court.
  McCready filed her appeal to the Maryland Court of Appeals on January 16, 1950 alleging that the University’s refusal to admit McCready to the only school of nursing maintained by and in the state of Maryland, solely because of her race, resulted in a denial of her rights to equal protection of the laws as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

A.      Summary of McCready’s Arguments

Counsel for McCready maintained that the facts of the record were simple.
   McCready, a Negro citizen, eighteen-years-old at all relevant times in the case and a resident of Maryland, submitted an application to the School of Nursing as a first-year student.
  After repeated requests for a statement of action on her application and upon receiving unsatisfactory replies, McCready filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus to compel University officials to take appropriate action.
  After filing suit against University officials, McCready was offered to pursue a course of training at Meharry Medical College in Nashville Tennessee, pursuant to the Regional Compact.
  McCready rejected the offer and insisted upon her right to pursue an education at the University of Maryland School of Nursing.
 

In the brief, McCready flatly rejected the University’s argument that pursuant to the Regional Compact, the University could discharge its responsibilities under the Constitution by sending McCready to Meharry Medical College, more than one thousand miles from her home, while at the same time admitting white applicants to the University.
  McCready contended that, consistent with previous decisions by the United States Supreme Court, the writ of mandamus should have been issued on the basis of the facts at issue.
   Appellants cited the case of Sipuel v. University of Oklahoma
 as evidence of its contention.  In Sipuel, a Negro petitioner, qualified to receive legal education offered by the state, applied to the University of Oklahoma School of Law, the only state institution for legal education.
  The petitioner’s application for admission was denied solely because of her color.
  The Supreme Court, in reversing petitioner’s denial for a writ, stated that the petitioner was entitled to secure legal education afforded by the state.
  The Court noted that, “[t]he state must provide [legal education] for her in conformity with the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and provide it as soon as it does for applicants of any other group.”
  

McCready argued that Judge Smith in the lower court incorrectly adopted the University’s argument that Pearson v. Murray and Gaines v. Missouri did not apply to the case at bar because “it nevertheless remains true that the court has not condemned the use of scholarships and the exfields of education other than the study of law.”
   McCready, however, argued that although Murray mentioned several differences in education at an in-state and out-of-state law schools, specifically, in stressing the states own law, the rationale of the opinion was that a Negro applicant could not be excluded from state schools within the state and sent to schools outside the state merely because of race and color.
  McCready maintained that any doubt as to this principle of law had been removed by later decisions of the Supreme Court.
  In Gaines, the Court fully considered the Murray decision and concluded, 

[T]he obligation of the State to give the protection of equal law can be performed only where the laws operate, that is, within its own jurisdiction. . . It is an obligation the burden of which cannot be cast upon one State upon another, and no State can be excused from performance of what another State may do or fail to do. . . We find it impossible to conclude that what otherwise would be an unconstitutional discrimination, with respect to the legal right to the enjoyment of opportunities within the State, can be justified by requiring resort to opportunities elsewhere.  That resort may mitigate the inconvenience of the discrimination but cannot serve to validate it.

Thus, McCready argued that the statement of law in Murray to be a general statement of law applicable to all public education.
  Moreover, McCready maintained that whenever a state provided education and training for any of its citizens within the state, the state must at least offer equivalent facilities to all other similarly qualified citizens within the state.
  Furthermore, McCready reasoned that Sipuel clarified this ruling by adding that education must be afforded by a state institution and must be afforded as soon as it does for the applicants of any other group.
 


In addition, McCready insisted that the Regional Compact did not alter the principle of law in the case, pointing to the words of counsel for the Board of Control for Southern Regional Education,
 who stated, “It is not the purpose of the Board that the regional compact and the contracts for educational services thereunder shall serve any state as a legal defense for avoiding responsibilities established or defined under the existing State and Federal laws and court decisions.”
  


McCready concluded that the University demonstrated a “flagrant disregard of the Constitution of the United States, the decisions of the Supreme Court and the decisions of this Court.”
 McCready noted that by stipulation, University officials admitted that McCready’s educational and moral qualifications were good, if not superior, to that of white students and that she was refused admission solely because of race.
 It was also stipulated that she would have been admitted if she were white.
 McCready maintained that the judgment of the lower court, depriving McCready of nursing training, was the type of action that made the Supreme Court reverse the Oklahoma courts in Sipuel.
  Therefore, under Pearson and Sipuel, McCready reasoned that the only recourse for the Court of Appeals was to require immediate equality within the state and order McCready admitted to the School of Nursing.

B. Summary of the University’s Brief

The University insisted that the issue of the case involved whether the state, by virtue of the fact that it was a party to the Regional Compact, discharged its duties and obligations to McCready when it arranged for her to attend the nursing school at Meharry Medical College.
  Moreover, the University viewed the question as partly one of fact and one of law.  As part of the two fold inquiry, the University addressed (i) whether the facilities offered by Meharry College were substantially equal to the facilities offered at the University of Maryland and (ii) whether the provisions for the education of a Maryland citizen at a compact institution was legal segregation of the races for educational purpose under the purview of the Constitution, decisions of the Supreme Court and the Maryland Court of Appeals.
 

At the outset, the University maintained that the policy of segregation was generally accepted throughout the states that were parties to the Regional Compact and this policy had been approved in Plessy v. Ferguson
 by the Supreme Court.
  The approval of this policy, the University claimed, was also recognized in Gaines v. Canada,
 Durkee v. Murphy,
 and Boyer et al. v. Garrett, et. al.
  Yet, the only limitation upon such segregation, the University argued, was the requirement of substantially equal facilities to members of the two races.
 

Furthermore, the University asserted that the Regional Compact was executed for the purpose of developing and maintaining the education of the citizens of such signatory states on a regional basis.
  In fact, the University acknowledged that the Compact was intended to afford greater educational opportunities for such citizens than could be provided by the states individually and applied to all citizens and benefited all citizens regardless of race or creed.
 Although the Compact was not aimed at segregation of the races, the University declared it was an available means of effecting such segregation when such means were unavailable within the confines of the signatory states.
  It went on to argue that the Regional Compact was binding upon each signatory state and upon all citizens of such states.
 

Furthermore, the University maintained that the Regional Compact did not deprive McCready of any rights guaranteed to her by the Constitution.
  Considering this point, the University urged the court to note that no decision, either in the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals of Maryland, previously addressed the exact problem at issue.
   In Pearson v. Murray,
 the petitioner was an applicant for law as were the petitioners in Gaines and in Sipuel.   In Murray and Gaines, the petitioners relied upon the special advantages incident to attending a law school in the state where one intends to practice.  The University noted that the opinion is Sipuel was per curiam and made no reference to McCready’s contentions in the case at bar, the decision being based upon the rule laid down in Gaines.  The University admitted such advantages for law students existed such as the emphasis in law school upon local rules of practice and procedure and substantive law peculiar to the state.
  Yet, the University submitted “[h]owever, no such advantages accrue to a student of nursing.  There are no rules regarding nursing which are peculiar to any given State nor is there any practice in the nursing profession peculiar to any given state.”
   In addition, in Murray, the petitioner’s attendance at the other institution would have resulted in greater expenses even though he was awarded a scholarship. That contention, however, the University argued, could not be made in McCready’s case and was conceded by McCready.
   

The University further maintained that as far as citizens were concerned, the effect of the contracts under the Regional Compact was identically the same as if the educational facilities were furnished in the state.
  By this method, the state of Maryland could maintain its policy of segregation and provide educational opportunities for Negroes equal to those afforded to members of the white race at no additional cost to the members of Negro race.
  Moreover, the University insisted that facilities for nursing offered at Meharry College were substantially equal to those off at the University.

The University went only to assert that states ratifying the Regional Compact had for educational purposes eliminated state lines and attempted to provide citizens within signatory states unlimited educational opportunities, which were secured by execution of contracts.
  It acknowledged that the operations under the Regional Compact were different from those under the out-of-state scholarship plans in effect in a number of states prior to Gaines.
  The University then reasoned that scholarship plans only provided for tuition, and the student would incur additional expenses such as travel, room and board, which would result in equality. 
  This effect, the University maintained, was no longer the case under the Regional Compact.

Thus, the University concluded that Gaines, Sipuel, and Murray were not controlling in McCready’s case.  The administration of the Regional Compact, as far as McCready was concerned, did not abridge her constitutional rights because she was afforded facilities for nurse training equal and possibly better than the University of Maryland.

VII. oral arguments 

Donald Murray and Thurgood Marshall
 presented arguments to the Maryland Court of Appeals.    Marshall, who provided the main arguments and summation, started by framing the issue.
  Marshall argued that the court did not have to address the issue of segregation, rather the court needed only to focus on whether one group could be educated in the state and another group forced outside the state.
  He strongly maintained that while “white students are given the protection of the State of Maryland . . . [McCready] is being virtually banished from the protection of her home state, and banishment and exile are the worst forms of punishment.”
  He also argued that sovereignty could only be maintained within the border of the state.
  Marshall concluded by asking the court to make it clear to the University of Maryland that where education is furnished to one group within the state, all other groups must be furnished the same within the state and at the same time.

Proctor, argued on behalf of the University, and stated that Regional Compact was the most economical way to provide education to its citizens and explained that McCready would carry “a little piece of Maryland” when she attended Meharry College.
  When Chief Judge Ogle Marbury inquired whether the laws of Maryland could be enforced in Maryland, Proctor responded no.
  Furthermore, when Judge Marbury asked whether McCready was entitled to be protected by the laws of Maryland, Proctor responded, “Unquestionably.”

VIII. the MARYLAND court of appeal rules 

The Maryland Court of Appeals on April 15, 1950, almost one year after McCready submitted an application to the School of Nursing, held that McCready had been denied the equal protection of the laws and therefore was entitled to a writ of mandamus.
  The opinion delivered by Judge Markell
 was largely confined to the facts surrounding McCready and lengthy quotations from several United States Supreme Court decisions.  

The Court of Appeals first acknowledged that no material facts were in dispute, McCready, a Negro, was denied admission to the School of Nursing solely because of her race and pursuant to the Regional Compact was offered education at Meharry Medical College at no extra expense, which McCready rejected.
 Similarly, the court acknowledged that the uncontroverted testimony of Dr. Pincoffs and other witnesses called by the University suggested that the educational facilities and living conditions at Meharry Medical College were “not only equal but superior to the University of Maryland nursing school.”
  Furthermore, the offer to study at Meharry College included “every advantage except the one she now insists upon, viz., education in a state institution within the State of Maryland.”

The court then went to recognize that Pearson v. Murray left unanswered whether it was sufficient to send Negroes outside the state of Maryland for education like that given white students in the state of Maryland.
  Similarly, the court recognized that there may also be a difference between the study of law and nursing, but since Missouri, any such distinction attempted had been prevented.
   In State of Missouri ex. rel. Gaines v. Canada,
 the court noted that the Supreme Court referred to the question left open in Murray and disregarded it on broad grounds, which the Court of Appeals stated were no less applicable to a school of nursing than to a school of law.
  Quoting the Supreme Court, the Maryland Court of Appeals stated, 

Manifestly, the obligation of the State to give the protection of equal laws can be performed only where its laws operate, that is within its own jurisdiction.  It is there that the equality of legal right must be maintained. . .It is an obligation the burden of which cannot be cast upon another, and no sate can be excused from performance by what another State may do or fail to do. . .We find it impossible to conclude that what otherwise would be unconstitutional, with respect to the legal right to the enjoyment of opportunities within the State, can be justified by requiring resort to opportunities elsewhere. . . That resort may mitigate the inconvenience of the discrimination but cannot serve to validate it. 

Thus, the Court of Appeals concluded that it would be bold to suggest that the Supreme Court’s words were used without due regard for their meaning and no court had overruled or qualified those words.
  To the contrary, the Court of the Appeals pointed to Sipuel v. Board of Regents of University of Oklahoma, a case essentially the same as in Missouri, where the Supreme Court held that the petitioner was entitled to secure legal education offered by the state institution and that the petitioner had been denied this right afforded white applicants.
   Moreover, the Supreme Court stated that, “[t]he State must provide it for [the petitioner]in conformity with the equal protection of the Fourteenth Amendment and provide it as soon as its does for applicants of any other group.”
  Thus, the Maryland Court of Appeals would not subtract or add anything from what the Supreme Court had held. The court order reversed the lower court order, and remanded the case with instructions.
 

IX. conclusion to THE McCready Case
A.
The University Appeals to the Supreme Court

As one editorial noted, “There is no question that the McCready decision opens the doors of all divisions of the university to qualified applicants regardless of race, creed or color as far as available courses at the university are concerned.”
  Yet, this was assertion may have been premature.  Following the Court of Appeals decision, the University decided to await further action until receiving legal advice from Hall Hammond, Attorney General.
  Dr. Harry C. Bryd, President of the University, later announced that the school would either appeal the decision or make preparations for providing equal facilities.
  

The Board of Regents made the decision to appeal the appellate court’s order to the United States Supreme Court.
  Dr. Byrd denied that the appeal was an attempt to keep McCready out of the university, but rather the appeal provided the Court with an opportunity to resolve two additional issues. 
  Bryd maintained those issues involved segregation itself and whether regional educational contracts complied with the requirement by each state to provide equal facilities for students of both races.
  Despite the appeal, the Supreme Court denied the University’s petition for writ of certiorari.


B.  
McCready Enters the University 

McCready was expected to and did enter the first year class in the fall of 1950 and graduated in 1953.
 All of the cases of the other students represented by Murray and Houston were subsequently dismissed in 1951 and 1952.  Following graduation, Esther McCready went on to enjoy careers as a nurse, a teacher, and a singer touring Europe with Grace Bumbry and other music legends, and presently divides her time between New York and Maryland as a docent at the nursing museum.
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� At this time, Murray and Houston had already filed a Petition for a Writ of Mandamus in Baltimore City Court on September 19, 1948 to compel University officials to admit Martin Booth to the School of Pharmacy. Booth, a twenty-one year old Negro resident of Baltimore, Maryland, applied as first year student to the School of Pharmacy on ________, 1948 for the September 22, 1948 academic term.  His application was rejected and returned May 25, 1948 on the professed ground that the quota for students entering the term had been filled.  He resubmitted his application on August 14, 1948 for the academic term beginning September 12, 1948 or for any semester of said academic year or succeeding academic year at which entering students were accepted.  (Booth Pet. for Writ of Mandamus, file no. 0013696 at 1).


� Richard Tyson, a twenty-year-old Negro resident of Baltimore, Maryland applied as a first-year student to the School of Pharmacy on March 7, 1949 for the September 21, 1949 academic term.  (Tyson Pet. for Writ of Mandamus, file no. 013833 at 1).


� Richard Williams, a twenty-four-year-old, Negro resident of Baltimore, Maryland applied as a first-year to the School of Dentistry on November 8, 1948 for the September 21, 1949 academic term. (R. Williams Pet. for Writ of Mandamus, file no. 013832 at 1).


� Donald Stewart, a nineteen-year-old Negro resident of Baltimore, Maryland applied as first-year student to the School of Dentistry on November 16, 1948 for the November 21, 1949 academic term. (Stewart Pet. for Writ of Mandamus, file no. 013829 at 1).


� Hiram Whittle, an eighteen-year-old Negro resident of Baltimore, Maryland applied as a first-year student to the College of Engineering on June 5, 1949 for the September 21, 1949 academic term. (Whittle Pet. for Writ of Mandamus, file no. 013830 at 1).


� Lucille Williams, a twenty-three-year old Negro resident of Baltimore, Maryland applied as a first-year student to the College of Home Economics of the University of Maryland on March 22, 1949 for the September 21, 1949 academic term. (L. Williams Pet. for Writ of Mandamus, file no. 013831 at 1).
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� U. of Md. Warned of Legal Action, Baltimore Afro-American, Late City Edition, July 16, 1949, at 1.  The NAACP noted that if Negro students were being accepted into the University of Maryland Law School only, and action upon the admission of the seven applicants was being delayed, then the delay suggested the seven applicants were being unjustly discriminated against. U. of Md. Warned of Legal Action, Baltimore Afro-American, Late City Edition, July 16, 1949, at 1.
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� See supra note 7.


� Tyson filed July 25, 1949 in Baltimore City Court.  (Tyson Petition for Writ of Mandamus, file no. 013833). R. Williams filed July 26, 1949 in Baltimore City Court.  (R. Williams Pet. for Writ of Mandamus, file no. 013832). Stewart filed July 26, 1949 in Baltimore City Court. (Stewart Pet. for Writ of Mandamus, file no. 013829). Whittle filed July 29, 1949 in Baltimore City Court. (Whittle Pet. for Writ of Mandamus, file no. 013830). L. Williams filed on July 29, 1949 in Baltimore City Court. (L. Williams Pet. for Writ of Mandamus, file no. 013831).


� McCready brought the petition against Harry C. Byrd, President and Executive Head of University, Edgar F. Long Director of Admission of the Baltimore Schools of which included the School of Nursing, Florence Meda Gipe, Director of School of Nursing, William P. Cole, Jr, Stanford Z. Rothschild, J. Milton Patterson, Peter W. Chilchester, Edward F. Holtor, E. Paul Knotts, Charles P. McCormick, Harry C. Nuttle, Philip C. Turner, Millard E. Tydings, and John L. Whitehurst, all members of the Board of Regents. (McCready Pet. for Writ of Mandamus at 1).  McCready alleged that the board of regents was vested with power of governing the University. (McCready Pet. for Writ of Mandamus at 2).
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� (McCready Pet. for Writ of Mandamus at 1). McCready acknowledged that the Faculty of Nursing was the only state institution which afforded a nursing education. (McCready Pet. for Writ of Mandamus at 2).


� (McCready Pet. for Writ of Mandamus at 3)  Counsel also noted that McCready, a candidate for admission as a first-year student, was fully qualified in all lawful respects and provided the required fee and transcript of her record from schools she previously attended. (McCready Pet. for Writ of Mandamus at 3).
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� (McCready Pet. for Writ of Mandamus at 4).  The other six applicants to the University of Maryland schools filed similar, if not almost verbatim, petitions for writs of mandamus praying for the same relief. (See other petitions). 
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� Letter from Edgar F. Long, Director of Admissions, to Esther McCready (Aug. 13, 1949. The Regional Compact, Chapter 282 of the Acts of 1939, senate Bill 432, stated as its purpose: 





“AN ACT to approve, confirm and ratify a certain Compact entered into by the State of Maryland and other Southern States by and through their respective Governors on February 8, 1948, as amended, relating to the development and maintenance of regional educational services and schools in the Southern States in the professional, technological, scientific literary and other fields, so as to provide greater educational advantages and facilities for the citizens in the several States here recited in such region, and to declare that the State of Maryland is a party to said Compact, as amended, and that the agreements, covenants and obligations therein are binding upon said State.”
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� An article in the Afro-American described the offers as ‘bribes.’ Six Reject U. of Md. Offer, Baltimore Afro-American, Late City Edition, Aug. 20, 1949, at 2. 


� (Answer to Stewart Pet. for Writ of Mandamus file no. 013829 at 2.)  Long informed Stewart that he was authorized to study at Meharry Medical College, pursuant to the Regional Compact, and that arrangements were made so that his expenses would not exceed that which he would have paid at University of Maryland. (Answer to Stewart Pet. for Writ of Mandamus file no. 013829 at 3).


� (Answer to Tyson Pet. for Writ of Mandamus file no 013833 at 3).  In fact, Long informed Tyson that the state of Maryland has provided scholarship and partial scholarships that could be available to Tyson. (Answer to Tyson Pet. for Writ of Mandamus file no. 013833 at 2). Under such scholarship system, Tyson was authorized to study at Xavier University or some other university provided, however, that he was qualified to study there. (Answer to Tyson Pet. for Writ of Mandamus file no. 013833 at 3).


� (Answer to L. Williams Pet. for Writ of Mandamus, file no. 013831 at 2). Williams was informed that her total expenses would be considerably lower at Princess Anne than such expenses at the University of Maryland at College Park. (Answer to L. Williams Pet. for Writ of Mandamus, file no. 013831 at 2-3).
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�Six Reject U. of Md. Offer, Baltimore Afro-American, Late City Edition, Aug. 20, 1949, at 2.  Whittle also responded, “There isn’t even a physic’s major [at Princess Anne]. I guess there’s nothing to do but fight it out in court.” Six Reject U. of Md. Offer, Baltimore Afro-American, Late City Edition, Aug. 20, 1949, at 2.
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� (Resp’t Answer to McCready’s Pet. for Writ of Mandamus at 1).
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� (Pet. by the Board of Control for Southern Regional Education to Intervene as Amicus Curiae at 2).


� The transcript of the opening arguments were not transcribed.


� (Trial Transcripts, at 4).
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� (Trial Transcripts, at 4).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 5).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 5).


� Dr. Pincoffs received his medical degree from Johns Hopkins Medical School in 1912. (Trial Transcripts, at 7). As chief physician at the University of Maryland Hospital, Pincoffs testified that he was in close touch with nursing and medical service. (Trial Transcripts, at 8).  He testified that he was currently acting as assistant to the President of the University Maryland Affairs and was in policy charge of the nursing school. (Trial Transcripts, at 8).  He testified that he was also in command at various times during W.W.I and W.W.II of hospitals, which included commanding nursing facilities in large hospitals. (Trial Transcripts, at 8).  Dr. Pincoffs had been an instructor of the nursing schools intermittently at University of Maryland and Mercy Hospital for the three decades. (Trial Transcripts, at 8-9).  In addition, he was a member of Armed Forces Medical Advisory Committee, advising the Secretary of Defense on all medical problems, including those affecting nursing in all three armed forces. (Trial Transcripts, at 10).
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� (Trial Transcripts, at 12).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 12).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 16).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 16). Dr. Pincoffs also testified that his analysis was based on the available operating budget for Meharry estimated at $108.000 that year and University of Maryland at $218,474 for the preceding year. (Trial Transcripts, at 13).  He also testified that Meharry had 61 students enrolled that year and Maryland had 164 students. (Trial Transcripts, at 16). 


� (Trial Transcripts, at 16-17).
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� (Trial Transcripts, at 20).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 22).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 22). Dr. Pincoffs noted that he believed that this constituted a real educational center for Negroes. (Trial Transcripts, at 22). He also testified to the handsome nursing home in which each student has a room with showers, social rooms, and a gymnasium that served as a dance hall. (Trial Transcripts, at 22-23). He submitted that an outdoor tennis court and pool on Fiske University’s campus could be used. (Trial Transcripts, at 23).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 29).  In addition, he noted that Meharry College had a slight advantage in equipment. (Trial Transcripts, at 29).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 28).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 28-29).  At the time of trial, the League accredited 120 of 1150 nursing schools. (Trial Transcripts, at 28).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 30).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 31). Rather, he drove by them and had someone point out the nature of the buildings. (Trial Transcripts, at 35).  He did not enter the buildings. (Trial Transcripts, at 36).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 31).
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� (Trial Transcripts, at 32).  He also admitted that he was not aware how Meharry broken down the $108.000 operating budget. (Trial Transcripts, at 33).


� Nesbitt was a graduate of Vanderbilt University and the University of  Nashville. (Trial Transcripts, at 43).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 44, 46).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 48).  She also testified that the opportunity for a social life and meeting the “finest young people” was at an optimum at Meharry. (Trial Transcripts, at 48). She observed the nurses’ home at Meharry and thought they were better than Vanderbilt, because of the size and newness (Trial Transcripts, at 47).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 52-53).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 54).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 55). The graduates name was Miriam Austin Wilkens and at the time of the case was Assistant Director of the School of Nursing at Provident Hospital in Baltimore. (Trial Transcripts, at 55-56).
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� (Trial Transcripts, at 65).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 71).  As director, he governed both schools at College Park and the professional schools in Baltimore with the exception of the graduate school at College Park.  All of those schools were covered in the provisions of the Regional Compact. (Trial Transcripts, at 71). Long handled all the applications for admission to the first-year class of nursing. (Trial Transcripts, at 72-73).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 74).


� Long was the chairman of the Committee, which included Gipe, Mrs. McGovern, Assistant to Gipe, and Mrs. Zeck, an instructor in the school and assistant in education, (Trial Transcripts, at 77).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 76).
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� (Trial Transcripts, at 78).  Interestingly, an editorial in the Afro regarding Long’s testimony stated that, “As long as we send delegations to see them, university officials insist that they are not keeping us out on the grounds of color.  But when we yank them into court, they blandly admit that they have been lying all along.” U. of Md. Admits It Has Been Lying, Baltimore Afro-American, Late City Edition, Oct. 15, 1949 at 17.
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� (Trial Transcripts, at 97-98).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 98).  Judge Smith noted that the Supreme Court decided the arrangement was not satisfactory in Murray because it was doubly expensive and inconvenient to attend the out of state institution and that the student was deprived the opportunity to study Maryland law. (Trial Transcripts, at 96-97). 


� (Trial Transcripts, at 98-99).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 99).


� (Trial Transcripts, at 100). Order filed 10/27/49 dismissing pt for mandamus and petitioner order to pay cost of the proceedings. (Chief Judge Smith).
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� 332 U.S. 631 (1948).


� 332 U.S. 631, 632 (1948).
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� 332 U.S. 631, 633 (1948) (quoting. State of Missouri ex rel. Gaines v. Canada, 305 U.S. 337, ____ (1938)).


� (Appellant Br. at 6) (quoting Judge Smith transcripts).


� (Appellant Br. at 6).


� (Appellant Br. at 6).


� (Appellant Br. at 6-7) (quoting Gaines, 59 S.Ct. 232, 236-237.)


� (Appellant Br. at 7).


� (Appellant Br. at 7).


� (Appellees Br. at 7).


� The Board of Control for Southern Regional Education appeared as amicus curiae.


� (Appellant Br. at 8 )(quoting Board of Control for Southern Regional Education Petition for Intervention).


� (Appellant Br. at 8).  The lower court noted that the substitute education to be offered under the Regional Compact was substantially no different from that offered by the individual state under a scholarship program to an institution in a neighboring state and if it is true that Gaines condemns such a substitute then the court was wrong. (Appellant Br. at 8).


� (Appellant Br. at 3).


� (Appellant Br. at 4).


� (Appellant Br. at 8-9).  McCready also noted instances in university institutions like the University of Maryland, University of West Virginia, University of Delaware, University of Texas, and University of Oklahoma, where there existed considerable resistance by government to abandon segregation but since then have been successful and beneficial. (Appellant Br. at 9).


� (Appellant Br. at 9).


� (Appellees Br. at 8).  The University submitted that the question presented in the case: “Was Appellees Refusal to Admit Appellant to the School of Nursing of the University of Maryland a Denial to Her of the Equal Protection of the Laws Guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States.” (Appellees Br. at 2).


� (Appellees Br. at 8).


� 163 U.S. 537 (19__).


� (Appellees Br. at 8-9).


� 305 U.S. 337, 344 (___).


� 181 Md. 259, 265 (___).


� (D.R. February 10, 1950).


� (Appellees Br. at 8).


� (Appellees Br. at 9).


� (Appellees Br. at 9).


� (Appellees Br. at 9). The University argued that the Regional Compact was not the kind of agreement that required approval by Congress to become effective and was further supported by Virginia v. Tennessee, 148 us 502, 517,519. (Appellees Br. at 10, 11). Thus, the University contended that it was obvious that the Regional Compact in no way tended to “increase and build up the political influence of the contracting State, so as to encroach upon or impair the supremacy of the US or interfere with their rightful management of particular subjects placed under their control” in violation of Virginia v. Tennessee.  (Appellees Br. at 13) (quoting VA v. Tenn). Certainly, the University maintained, that compacts concerning health, institutional care, conservation of natural resources, and motor vehicles could be and were addressed by compacts between states without congressional approval. (Appellees Br. at 13-14).  The University also noted that it was equally true of interstate compacts concerned with higher education for citizens of several states. (Appellees Br. at 14). 


� (Appellees Br. at 14) (citing  Va. v. Tenn. ,and  Hinderlider v. La Plata River & Cherry Creek Ditch Company, 304 U.S. 92, 106).


� (Appellees Br. at 15).


� (Appellees Br. at 15).


� 169 Md. 478 (       ).


� (Appellees Br. at 16).


� (Appellees Br. at 16) (emphasis omitted).


� (Appellees Br. at 16).


� (Appellees Br. at 16-17).


� (Appellees Br. at 18). The University acknowledged that under the Regional Compact, contracts have been entered into between various states which wish to send students out of their own states for educational purposes with the Regional Board and by the Board with Colleges and Universities in various states. (Appellees Br. at 16). Maryland has opted to avoid expensive and burdensome procedure of purchasing outright educational facilities. (Appellees Br. at 17). Thus, the University argued that there was no substantial difference between a contractual agreement for and actual ownership of the educational facilities. (Appellees Br. at 18).


� (Appellees Br. at 18).  The University pointed to the testimony of Dr. Pincoffss and Mrs. Nesbitt that a student at Meharry would receive an education in nursing certainly equal to that afforded in Maryland. (Appellees Br. at 18). (Appellees Br. at 18).
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� (Appellees Br. at 19). The University opined that a trend toward interstate cooperation in problems like this existed and such solutions were socially and economically sound. (Appellees Br. at 19).


� (Appellees Br. at 19).


� Marshall, was then special NAACP counsel. Forced Out-of-State Education Called Illegal, Baltimore Afro-American, Late City Edition, Mar. 18, 1950 at 9.  Attending the arguments were, Juanita Mitchell, of the Baltimore NAACP, McCready, Helen Heath and Robert Watts, Baltimore Attorney and Maryland Law graduate. Forced Out-of-State Education Called Illegal, Baltimore Afro-American, Late City Edition, Mar. 18, 1950 at 9.


� The transcripts of the oral arguments are unavailable.
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� The court order reversed the lower court order, and remanded the case with instructions. 195 Md. 131, 73 A.2d 8 (1950).  The Afro noted that this was the first decision regarding racial discrimination in educational facilities that the Court of Appeals had been called on to decide since Pearson v. Murray in 1936. Open U. of Md., Baltimore Afro-American, Five Star Edition, Apr. 18, 1950, at 1.


� Chief Judge Marbury, Judge Collins, Grason and Henderson also heard the case. 195 Md. 131, 73 A.2d 8 (1950).  Interestingly, Judge Markell was a native of Baltimore, had been a member of the Maryland Court of Appeals since 1945 and practiced law since 1904.  Markell was also a University of Maryland School of Law graduate. U. of Md. Case Judge Native of Baltimore, Baltimore Afro-American, Five Star Edition, Apr. 18, 1950 at 6.
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